ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SEP 26 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County

Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DONALD EUGENE PETERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000492

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in finding that assault and battery in the second degree is not a lesser included offense of assault and battery in the first degree and refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of assault and battery in the second degree?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July of 2011, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Peters for burglary first degree, armed robbery, assault and battery first degree and safecracking, indictments #2011-GS-07-1456, 1457, 1458, 1459. On February 25, 2013, Peters proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable G Thomas Cooper. Attorney Ehrick K. Haight represented Peters at trial. Attorney Meredith Bannon prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. At the close of the State's case the judge directed a verdict of acquittal on the safecracking charge. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the other charges. Judge Cooper sentenced Peters to twenty three (23) years for burglary first degree, a concurrent twenty three (23) years for armed robbery and a concurrent ten (10) years for assault and battery first degree. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on March 4, 2013. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ron Lanier was an ex-marine who operated Ron's Barber Shop right around the corner from his house in the Bon Aire subdivision in Beaufort County. (R. 124, lines 6-21; R. 135, lines 6-10). Lanier would pay Lauren Baughman and Ashley Pierce to do odd jobs around the house and to have sex with him. (R. p. 124, line 22 – p. 125, lines 1-14). Lauren's parents lived across the street from Lanier. (R. p. 243, lines 6-16). Lauren was addicted to prescription pills and had a \$300 dollar a day pill habit, taking 29 – 30 pills a day. (R. p. 244, lines 3-13). Lauren would clean house and have sex with Lanier in order to get money to support her pill habit. (R. p. 243, line 17 – p. 244, lines 1-21).

In June of 2011, Lauren was living with her boyfriend Kurtis Edwards (R. p. 245, lines 1-8). During this time Lauren was also in a sexual relationship with the appellant, Donald "Doobie" Peters. (R. p. 246, lines 2-25). The boyfriend, Edwards, was unaware that Lauren was sleeping with Lanier and Peters. (R. p. 247, lines 5-8). Peters and Lanier both knew that Lauren was sleeping with Edwards. (R. p. 247, lines 1-4; 9-12). Edwards testified that he met Lanier on two occasions through Lauren. Lanier testified that he knew "Doobie" from the neighborhood. (R. p. 138, lines 8-20).

On June 28, 2011, Lauren woke up with no pills, no money and a \$2,000.00 fine to pay. (R. p. 248, lines 7-24). Lauren went to Lanier's house in the hopes of getting money, as she had done in the past. (R. p. 267, lines 12-24). Ashley Pierce testified that Lauren called her and asked her to come to Lanier's house. (R. p. 220, lines 20-22). Ashley testified, "He [Lanier] liked girls to mess with each other in front of him, and he had money." (R. p. 220, lines 22-23). This time, however, Lauren was unsuccessful in obtaining money from Lanier. (R. p. 221, lines 4 – p. 222, lines 1-8; p. 251, line 17 – p. 252, lines 1-

16). Before leaving Lanier's house, Lauren testified that she unlocked the front door. (R. p. 251, lines 17-25). According to Lauren, she left Lanier's house, met Edwards and Peters and discussed robbing Lanier. (R. p. 252, lines 12-16).

Lanier testified that after Lauren and Ashley left his house two men burst in demanding his keys, money and beating him. (R. pp. 126 – 131). Lanier testified that Lauren knew that he kept cash in a locked safe in the closet. (R. p. 132, lines 5-18). Lanier was unable to identify the men who entered his house. (R. p. 138, lines 18-23). Lanier claimed that the men took about nine thousand five hundred (\$9,500.00) dollars. Lanier admitted drinking whisky that night. (R. p. 126, lines 5-8). After the robbery Lanier went to his neighbor, Eugene Smith's house and Smith called 911. Smith is Lauren's step dad. (R. pp. 86-88). Smith testified that Lanier smelled of alcohol. (R. p. 88, lines 6-9). Lanier was not cooperative with law enforcement, emergency medical technicians who responded or with hospital staff. (R. pp. 134-136). Lanier was eventually handcuffed, placed in an ambulance and transported to the hospital where he refused treatment. (R. p. 135, line 17- p. 136, lines 1-8).

At trial Lauren admitted that she planned the robbery of Lanier and claimed that she asked Edwards and Appellant Peters to help her. (R. p. 268, lines 2-25). Lauren testified that prior to the break in at Lanier's house, Edwards broke into Lanier's barber shop in search of money. (R. p. 276, lines 20-24). At trial Edwards admitted breaking into the barber shop. (R. p. 330, lines 20-21). Edwards testified that while he was breaking into the barber shop, Lauren drove Appellant Peters to Whitmore Plumbing where he took some scrap metal. (R. p. 330, lines 12-25). According to Edwards, he and Peters broke into Lanier's house about two hours after the break in at the barber shop. (R. p. 342, lines 4-24).

Edwards testified that Lauren drove them to Lanier's house where he and Peters went in the front door Lauren unlocked earlier. (R pp. 320-323) Lauren told Edwards Lanier kept money in a safe in the closet and he kept the keys to the closet around his neck. (R. p. 319, line 20 – p. 320, lines 1-13). According to Edwards, Peters took Edwards' police baton inside with him to protect against Lanier's dog. (R. p. 321, line 21 – p. 322, lines 1-20). The baton was later recovered from Edwards' closet. (R. p. 175, line 25 – p. 176, lines 1-5). Lanier's blood was found on the baton. (R. p. 354, lines 19-20). Edwards claimed that once inside Peters punched Lanier above the left eye. (R. p. 324, line 18 – p. 325, lines 1-5). Edwards testified that he took the keys out of Lanier's pocket and opened the safe but found no money in the safe. (R. p. 326, lines 3-17). Edwards eventually found Lanier's wallet and removed approximately three thousand (\$3,000.00) dollars. (R. pp. 327- 329).

According to Edwards, he and Peters left Lanier's house and Lauren picked them up. (R. p. 328, lines 18-24). The three bought some pills and then drove to Hardeeville where they spent the night in one hotel room. (R. pp. 333-335) The next day Peters sold the scrap metal he had taken from Whitmore Plumbing to M&J Metal Recycling in Hardeeville for two hundred twelve dollars and sixty seven cents (\$212.67). (R. pp. 229-232).

During trial the State presented a power point presentation summarizing text messages between Lauren, Edwards and Peters The State also added audio to the text messages. (R. p. 209, lines 1-22). During pre-trial and again at trial Appellant objected to the admission of the power point presentation as hearsay. (R. p. 49, lines 3-12; Tr. pp. 49-50). The judge overruled the objection both pre-trial and again at trial. (R. pp 49-54, Tr. pp. 49-53). As to the added audio portion, trial counsel stated, "And, your Honor, I'm a little old fashioned. I don't know that I'm used to computers reading off testimony which is

what I'm told is going to happen. They say that it's non-emotional, but also these are text messages where, you know, many of us don't even understand what some of these things are supposed to be that are being said." (R. p. 149, lines 4-10). Trial counsel also stated, "I'm not quite sure how that's going to sound and whether I object to it or not" (R. p. 149, lines 12-13).<sup>1</sup>

After interviewing Lanier and learning that Lauren and Ashley had been at his house prior to the robbery, Investigator Andrew Rice with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department interviewed Lauren. (R. p. 169, lines 1-21). As a result of the interview Lauren was arrested, Edwards was interviewed and arrested and Peters was interviewed and arrested. (R. pp. 169 – 174). According to Investigator Rice, Peters denied going inside Lanier's house and denied involvement with taking money or beating Lanier but stated that he merely served as a lookout in the front yard. (R. p. 174, lines 18-21). The statement was not audio or video taped and was not reduced to writing.

---

<sup>1</sup> Trial counsel's failure to object to the State's interpretation of the text messages through the summary and added audio may be an issue to be explored in post conviction relief

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in finding that assault and battery in the second degree is not a lesser included offense of assault and battery in the first degree and refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of assault and battery in the second degree.

The jury found Appellant guilty of burglary first degree, armed robbery and assault and battery first degree. During the charge conference counsel for Appellant requested a charge on the lesser included offense of assault and battery second degree. (R. p. 380, lines 23-24). Counsel stated, "But certainly on the assault and battery charge, we would request a lesser included if at all possible." (R. p. 381, lines 5-6). The State objected arguing that assault and battery second degree was not a lesser included offense of assault and battery first degree. The prosecutor stated, "I object to the inclusion of assault and battery second. I don't believe it's actually a lesser included of it because it contains the separate elements that the State has to prove. And I think if you look at legislative intent, this is a higher degree of assault because you did it while committing this other crime." (R. p. 383, lines 3-9).

The judge agreed with the prosecutor and stated, "That's right And that's true. The question is whether or not the greater includes all of the elements of the lesser. And it seems to me that the lesser includes additional elements that is not in the greater. And that is the distinction between the degree of injury I'll look that up further, but I will – if I change my mind I'll charge the lesser and if I don't I'll let you know before we go to the jury." (R. p. 383, lines 10-18). Prior to the charge the judge stated, "On reconsideration, I've decided not to charge the lesser included of assault and battery second degree." (R. p. 385, lines 7-9). At the close of the jury charge the judge asked for any exceptions or additions to the charge stating, "Thank you. Mr. Haight [trial counsel for Appellant Peters], other than

previously noted are there any additional requests or exceptions from the defense?” (R. p. 443, line 25 – p. 444, lines 1-2). Trial counsel answered, “Nothing additional, Your Honor.” (R. p. 444, line 3).

During post trial motions counsel moved for a new trial based on the failure to charge the lesser included offense of assault and battery second degree. (R. pp. 474-475). Counsel argued, “The other ground, Your Honor, that we would have is with regard to the assault and battery where the Court charged first but refused to charge second. (R. p. 475, lines 2-4). The State again argued that assault and battery second is not a lesser included under the subsection of assault and battery first which was charged in the indictment. (R. 476, lines 7-12). The judge denied the motion for a new trial stating, “As to the failure to include the lesser included – excuse me, the lesser charge of assault and battery second, I simply reaffirm my earlier rulings that I don’t think that it is a lesser included of assault and battery. It contains elements that are not contained in the larger charge which seem to me to be – it is a Blockburger test, quite frankly, for determining whether or not something is a lesser included. So I would simply renew my earlier rulings in that regard and deny the motion for new trial on that basis as to that charge.” (R. p. 478, lines 7-14). The trial judge erred in finding that assault and battery second degree is not a lesser included offense of assault and battery first degree.

The indictment alleges, “That in Beaufort County, South Carolina, on or about June 29, 2011, the Defendant, Donald Eugene Peters, did commit and assault and battery constituting an unlawful act of violent injury to the victim, Ronald Lanier, accompanied by circumstances of aggravation, to wit: did cause injury to the victim during a robbery; all in violation of the Common law of South Carolina and Section 17-25-30(C/L) of the code of

Laws of South Carolina (1976, as amended) ” (R. p. 489). The other side of the indictment references assault and battery 1st degree and lists S.C. Code §16-3-600( C)(1). (R. p. 485).

S.C. Code §16-3-600( C)(1) defines assault and battery **first** degree and provides:

A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully:

(a) injures another person, and the act:

(i) involves nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing, with lewd and lascivious intent; or

(ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft; or

(b) offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act:

(i) is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury; or

(ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

S.C. Code §16-3-600(D)(1) defines assault and battery **second** degree and provides:

A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and:

(a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted; or

(b) the act involves the nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing.

S.C. Code §16-3-600(D)(3) specifically states that assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser included offense of assault and battery in the first degree providing:

Assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the first degree, as defined in subsection (C)(1), assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, as defined in subsection (B)(1), and attempted murder, as defined in Section 16-3-29.

The judge erred in finding that assault and battery in the second degree is not a lesser included offense of assault and battery in the first degree when the statute specifically states that assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser included offense of assault and battery in the first degree. The judge erred in refusing to charge the jury with the lesser included offense of assault and battery in the second degree.

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 349 S.E.2d 339 (1986). A trial judge must charge a lesser included offense if there is any evidence from which the jury could infer the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense. Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 350-351, 520 S.E.2d 614, 615 (1999). Conversely, a trial judge does not err by refusing to charge a lesser included offense where there is no evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense. State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 429, 229 S.E.2d 331, 332 (1976).