ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Thomas E. Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000492

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

DONALD EUGENE PETERS, .....APPELLANT.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1880  
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910  
(843) 470-3725

RECEIVED

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

SEP 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

Finally, Edwards testified in detail about his role in the home invasion and Appellant's active participation in the crimes. He explained his relationship with the other suspects, and described how Baughman came up with the plan, asked him to help, and later asked Appellant to help. Edwards testified he went into the victim's house first, with Appellant right behind him. After they were inside he witnessed Appellant and the victim wrestling in the kitchen, at which point Appellant hit the victim on the side of the head with his fist. He said Appellant was holding the baton in his fist and that upon being hit, the victim began to bleed and surrendered. Edwards testified he and Appellant were the only two people in the house when the victim was injured and that Appellant was the one carrying the baton (R.p 314, line 14-p 338, line 9).

The State also called Mauricio Jimenez, a worker at M&J Metal Recycling Center in Hardeeville, Rontak Patel, the manager of the Quality Inn in Hardeeville; John Donahue, DNA technical leader in the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office Forensic Laboratory, and Detective Sergeant John Gobel of the Sheriff's Office, to fill in additional details regarding the investigation and the events prior to and after the home invasion. (R.p.229, line 9-p.237, line 4; p.306, line 4-p.314, line 8; p.344, line 20-p.359, line 4; p 359, line 12-p 369, line 5) Gobel was present when the victim and the suspects were questioned, and he testified neither the victim, Baughman, nor Edwards indicated there was a third person besides Edwards and Appellant who entered the victim's house. He testified Appellant denied beating the victim and insisted he did not even go into the victim's house (R.p.364, line 13-p.366, line 5).

### **Motions and Charge Conference**

After the State rested, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on all charges. The trial court granted a directed verdict on the charge of safecracking but denied the motion as to the remaining charges. After questioning Appellant outside of the presence of the jury in regard to his right to testify, the trial judge explained what law he intended to charge to the jury. (R.p.369, line 8-p.379, line 3).

In regard to the injury to the victim, the trial judge noted he would charge assault and battery in the first degree and said “There appears to me to be no lesser included in this connection.” He then asked the parties if they had any requests for additional charges or exceptions. Appellant stated “Certainly, Your Honor, we would like a lesser included on the assault and battery charge, similarly on the burglary charge ” The trial judge discussed the relatively new statutory definitions of assault and battery in the first and second degree, and the elements of those crimes and said he would take Appellant’s request under consideration over the lunch break. The solicitor objected to a charge on assault and battery in the second degree, arguing she did not believe it is a lesser included offense because it has separate elements. The trial judge agreed that the typical test for determining whether an offense is a lesser included offense is whether the greater includes all of the elements of the lesser, and agreed the elements seemed different here, but advised he would further consider the request and make a ruling before the jury returned. (R.p 379, line 8-p.383, line 23). After the lunch break the trial judge ruled: “On reconsideration, I’ve decided not to charge the lesser included of assault and battery second degree ” (R p 385, lines 5-9).

### **Closing Arguments, Jury Charge, and Verdict**

During closing arguments, the solicitor claimed the evidence was sufficient to firmly convince the jurors that Appellant knew about the burglary, went into the victim's house to help commit the burglary, beat the victim, and took his money. She noted Appellant's own statement to the police admitting he went to the crime scene and served as a lookout. The solicitor explained the "hand of one hand of all" theory of accomplice liability and argued Appellant was guilty even if he wasn't the one who actually beat the victim and took the money. She described the circumstantial evidence linking Appellant to the crimes as evidence he was an accomplice, as well as the direct testimony from Baughman and Edwards that Appellant was an active participant in the planning and commission of the crimes (R.p.387, line 20-p.407, line 21). In response, Appellant's counsel noted the lack of fingerprints or DNA evidence which could link Appellant to the crimes and questioned the credibility of Baughman and Edwards. He argued Appellant's statement to the police was not knowing and voluntary, and that even in that statement Appellant emphatically denied any involvement with actually going into the victim's house. Counsel argued that while there was evidence someone accompanied Edwards into the victim's house, there was no credible evidence it was Appellant. (R.p.408, line 1-413, line 22)

The trial judge charged the jury on the State's burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, the defendant's right not to testify, the roles of the judge and jury, direct evidence and circumstantial evidence, expert witnesses, credibility of witnesses, criminal intent, accomplice liability, mere presence, and the elements of first-degree burglary,

armed robbery, and first-degree assault and battery. (R.p.413, line 24-p.443, line 21). In regard to first-degree assault and battery the trial judge charged the jury as follows:

Finally the Defendant in this case is charged with assault and battery in the first degree. Our law says that a person who commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully, number one, injures another person. That's the first element, the unlawful injury of somebody else. And the injury occurred during the commission of a robbery or burglary or theft

So in order for the State to meet its burden of proof in this particular case, it has to convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Peters injured somebody else, and that the injury occurred during the commission of a robbery or burglary or theft.

(R.p.432, line 24-p.433, line 11). Upon completion of the jury charge, the trial judge asked, “. . . other than previously noted are there any additional requests or exceptions from the defense?” Counsel stated: “Nothing additional, Your Honor.” (R.p.443, line 25-p 444, line 3).

After deliberating for approximately twenty minutes, the jury sent out two questions, including one asking for the definitions of the crimes. The trial judge re-charged the elements of the three offenses. (R.p.446, line 1-p.452, line 25) At the end of trial, the jury found Appellant guilty of first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and first-degree assault and battery. The trial court sentenced him to twenty-three (23) years' imprisonment for first-degree burglary, twenty-three (23) years' concurrent imprisonment for armed robbery, and ten (10) years' concurrent imprisonment for first-degree assault and battery. (R.p.484-496; R.p.472, line 15-p 473, line 9) Appellant renewed all motions he had previously made and the trial court renewed its earlier rulings. (R.p 464, lines 10-15).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court properly declined Appellant's request to charge the jury on the lesser included offense of assault and battery in the second degree where no evidence was presented at trial from which it could be inferred only the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in finding that assault and battery in the second degree is not a lesser included offense of assault and battery in the first degree. He further argues the trial court then erred in failing to charge the lesser included offense of assault and battery in the second degree because there was evidence in the record from which the jury could infer he committed only this lesser offense rather than assault and battery in the first degree. He contends the jury could believe he injured the victim when he entered the victim's house and punched the victim in the head while the burglary and armed robbery were being committed by Baughman and Edwards, but also believe the punch was **not** thrown "during the commission of" that very same burglary and armed robbery. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit.

A person commits assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully "injures another person," and the act occurred "during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft," regardless of the severity of that injury. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C). A person commits assault and battery in the second degree if the person "unlawfully injures another person" and "moderate bodily injury to another person results." Here, no evidence was presented at trial to support a charge on the lesser included offense of assault and battery in the second degree. Indeed, regardless of which theory of the case prevailed, Appellant could not have been guilty of **only** the lesser charge. For the same reason, even if the trial court's charging decision was error, it was

harmless because the jury's verdict reflected it could not have convicted Appellant of second degree assault and battery even if the option had been available. The jury specifically determined Appellant was guilty of committing both a burglary and a robbery, which means that any injury Appellant inflicted upon the victim resulted from his act during the commission of those crimes and was necessarily an assault and battery in the first degree. Given the verdict, Appellant's act of injuring the victim simply could not have been **only** assault and battery in the second degree. For these reasons, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). "No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence." State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). "Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence." State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). The trial court only commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 838, 849 (1993).

"A trial judge is required to charge the jury on a lesser-included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed." State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 289, 724 S.E.2d 664, 674 (2012). "The mere

contention that the jury might accept the State's evidence in part and reject it in part is insufficient to satisfy the requirement that some evidence tends to show the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense" State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 608, 635 S.E.2d 669, 674 (Ct. App. 2006). In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S E 2d 19, 36 (Ct App. 2009). An appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Santiago, 370 S C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct App. 2006).

#### **Analysis / Discussion**

The Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010 substantially overhauled the state's criminal law in regard to assault and battery offenses. State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 315, 755 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2014) It codified attempted murder in section 16-3-29 and four degrees of assault and battery in section 16-3-600. S.C Code Ann §§ 16-3-29 & 16-3-600 (Supp 2013). The new degrees of assault and battery are, in descending order of severity, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN), and assault and battery in the first, second, and third degrees. Middleton, 407 S.C at 315, 755 S.E.2d at 434. Under the statute, ABHAN is a lesser-included offense of attempted murder. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(B)(3). Assault and battery in the first degree is a lesser-included offense of both attempted murder and ABHAN. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(3). Further, assault and battery in the second and third degree are each lesser-included offenses of every preceding offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(D)(3) & (E)(3).

At trial, the judge ruled “I’ve decided not to charge the lesser included of assault and battery second degree.” (R.p.385, lines 5-9). Appellant contends this was error. In relevant part, the statute provides:

(C)(1) A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully:

(a) injures another person, and the act: (i) involves nonconsensual touching of the private parts . . . with lewd and lascivious intent, or (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft, or

(b) offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act (i) is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury; or (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

S.C.Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1) (Supp. 2013) (emphasis added). It goes on to provide:

(D)(1) A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the second degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and:

(a) moderate bodily injury to another person results or moderate bodily injury to another person could have resulted; or

(b) the act involves the nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing.

....

(3) Assault and battery in the second degree is a lesser-included offense of assault and battery in the first degree, as defined in subsection (C)(1), assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, as defined in subsection (B)(1), and attempted murder, as defined in Section 16-3-29.

S C Code Ann § 16-3-600(D) (Supp. 2013) (emphasis added).

Initially, the State submits that although the solicitor argued that assault and battery in the second degree is not a lesser included offense, and the trial judge entertained the merits of that argument, the trial court appears to ultimately have found it

is indeed a lesser included offense, but nevertheless declined to charge it because it was not supported by the evidence. Specifically, the court held: “I’ve decided not to charge **the lesser included** of assault and battery second degree ” (R p.385, lines 7-9) (emphasis added). Arguably, the trial judge’s later comments during the post-trial ruling suggest the initial ruling was based on the conclusion assault and battery in the second degree is not a lesser included offense; however, the clear and unambiguous statement during trial belies this argument. Whatever the case, even if the basis of the trial court’s decision was erroneous, the ultimate ruling was proper and should be affirmed

Under subsection (a), any injury constitutes assault and battery in the first degree if it occurs during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft. Here, the trial judge properly declined to instruct the jury on assault and battery in the second degree because the evidence presented during trial **only** supported a conclusion the victim was injured during the commission of a burglary and robbery. To the extent Appellant participated in the burglary and robbery and the victim was injured, he was guilty of first degree assault and battery and could not be guilty of assault and battery in the second degree. To the extent Appellant did not participate, as he argued, he would not be guilty at all. There is no logically consistent way he could have committed an assault and battery alone, without it being connected to the other crimes. Indeed, Appellant’s own theory of the case rejects this scenario. His only argument was that his statement to the police was not knowing and voluntary, and that even in that statement he emphatically denied any involvement with actually going into the victim’s house. Counsel argued that while there was evidence someone accompanied Edwards into the victim’s house, there was no credible evidence it was Appellant (R p.408, line 1-413, line 22). In other

words, Appellant's sole claim is that he did not commit any assault and battery, not that he committed an assault and battery outside the scope of the burglary and armed robbery.

Based on the evidence and this theory of defense, the jury could only find that Appellant committed assault and battery in the first degree, or was not guilty. See State v. Mallory, 270 S.C. 519, 523, 242 S.E.2d 693, 695 (1978) (“[I]t is not error to refuse to submit the question of simple assault and battery to the jury under an indictment for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, unless there is testimony tending to show that the defendant is only guilty of a simple assault and battery.” (emphasis added)); see also State v. Small, 307 S.C. 92, 94, 413 S.E.2d 870, 871 (Ct. App. 1992) (“The evidence does not warrant the charge of the lesser offense of simple assault. Small was guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature or not guilty. Accordingly, there is no merit to his claim that the court erred in refusing to give the requested charge.”).

The evidence established either Appellant injured the victim during a burglary and robbery, or he did not injure, rob, and burglarize the victim at all. If Appellant only acted as a lookout, he is guilty of the burglary and the armed robbery under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability. See State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (discussing a jury instruction on accomplice liability). If Appellant simply entered the house and unlawfully injured the victim, he committed a first degree burglary even if he didn't participate in the armed robbery. See State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 397, 741 S.E.2d 521, 526 (Ct. App. 2012) (“A person is guilty of first-degree burglary if he “enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling” and either enters or remains in the dwelling during the

nighttime. S.C.Code Ann. § 16–11–311(A) (2003) Although the intent to commit a crime must exist at the time the accused enters the dwelling, the jury may base its determination of that intent upon evidence of the accused's actions once inside the dwelling.”). As a consequence, any injury occurred while that burglary and/or the armed robbery was being committed, and Appellant is guilty of assault and battery in the first degree. Because no evidence was presented supporting a finding the assault and battery on the victim constituted an assault and battery in the second degree, the trial judge did not err in declining to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

#### **Harmless Error**

Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S C 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) “It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him ” State v. Hariott, 210 S C 290, 298, 42 S E.2d 285, 288 (1947). When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, the appellate court must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. Middleton, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S E.2d at 435. In making a harmless error analysis, the inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered. Id Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry Id

In the instant case, the evidence adduced at trial demonstrates that, notwithstanding the failure to charge the lesser-included offense, the only conclusion established by the evidence is that Appellant was guilty of assault and battery in the first degree, given the facts that Appellant was found guilty of burglary and armed robbery, and the victim was injured during the commission of those crimes. The State submits there is no other way to construe the evidence in this case but that Appellant “injured another person, and the act . . . occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft ” S.C Code Ann. § 16–3–600(C)(1) (Supp. 2013) Therefore, any error in failing to charge the lesser-included offense was harmless because the erroneous instruction did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt Middleton, supra; Adams, supra Appellant’s conviction for assault and battery in the first degree should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**


For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, convictions, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.